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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A.      Relevant Procedural History

1.     On June 1, 2018, Peter Eliades, Individually and as Trustee of the Eliades Survivor 

Trust of 10/30/08, and Teld, LLC filed their Motion for Summary Judgment (the “Eliades 

Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment”) against plaintiff Nanyah Vegas, LLC (“Plaintiff” or 

“Nanyah”). See Exhibit A. 

2.     On June 19, 2018, Nanyah filed its Opposition to the Eliades Defendants’ Motion 

for Summary Judgment and Countermotion for Summary Judgment (“Nanyah’s Countermotion 

for Summary Judgment”) against the Eliades Defendants. See Exhibit B. 

3.     On July 19, 2018, the Eliades Defendants filed their Reply in Support of their 

Motion for Summary Judgment and Opposition to Nanyah’s Countermotion for Summary 

Judgment. See Exhibit C. 

4.     On July 26, 2018, the Court held the hearing on the Eliades Defendants and 

Nanyah’s competing Motions. See Exhibit D. 

5.     On October 5, 2018, the Court entered the Order: (1) Granting Defendants Peter 

Eliades, Individually and as Trustee of the Eliades Survivor Trust of 10/30/08, and Teld, LLC’s 

Motion for Summary Judgment; and (2) Denying Nanyah Vegas, LLC’s Countermotion for 

Summary Judgment (the “October 2018 Order”). See Exhibit E.  The October 2018 Order was 

never approved as to form and content by the Moving Defendants’ counsel or by counsel for the 

Eliades Defendants.  Further, competing orders were offered by the Eliades Defendants and 

Nanyah.  See Exhibits F-1 and F-2.  

6.     With respect to Nanyah’s competing Order, attached as Exhibit F-2, Nanyah 

included a redlined version of the 2 competing Orders highlighting the differences between the 2 

versions. See Exhibit F-2 to this Motion, at Attachment 2. 

7. On October 8, 2018, Notice of Entry of the October 2018 Order was filed and 

served. See Exhibit G. 
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There is no dispute that the above-referenced motions for summary judgment, which 

resulted in the entry of the October 2018 Order, did not seek summary judgment against the 

Moving Defendants, or any of them. 

B. The October 2018 Order is not consistent with the record.

The October 2018 Order  could be misconstrued to have made several affirmative findings 

and conclusions that the Rogich Trust has an obligation or debt owed to Nanyah (as a potential 

claimant) for its purported investment into Eldorado Hill. See Exhibit E.1  The record clearly 

shows that the arguments/exhibits, presented in the moving papers and at the hearing (as cited 

below), indicate that any claim by Nanyah is only a “potential” claim, and that any purported 

investment by Nanyah into Eldorado is not only disputed, but demonstrably inaccurate.  Set forth 

below are various references to documents and testimony in the record in this case demonstrating 

that a genuine issue of material fact clearly remains regarding Nanyah’s purported “claim” against 

any of the defendants, and regarding its purported “investment” into Eldorado: 

1.     Eliades Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment

 “On the contrary, the Purchase Agreements state that the Rogich Trust 
agreed to negotiate with Nanyah (amongst others) to attempt to resolve its 
“potential claim.” See Exhibit A, pg. 6, ll. 6-10. 

 “Notably, the Rogich Trust --not Teld, Eliades, or the Eliades Trust--
agreed to be responsible for Nanyah’s potential claim.” Id., pg. 11, ll. 5-
6. 

 “On the contrary, the Purchase Agreements reiterate over and over again 
the only the Rogich Trust is responsible for Nanyah’s potential claim.” Id., 
pg. 12, ll. 7-9. 

2.     Eliades Defendants’ Reply in Support of their Motion

 “Despite this clear legal authority, Nanyah argues that the successors and 
assigns clause contained in the October 30, 2008 Purchase Agreement 

1 The Rogich Defendants specifically dispute the affirmative findings and conclusions provided for at: (1) 
Undisputed Material Facts, paragraphs 4, 5(a)(ii), 5(b)(i), 5(b)(iii), 5(b)(iv) and 5(d)(ii); and (2) Conclusion of Law, 
paragraphs 7, 9, 12, 15, 20 and 21. The Rogich Defendants provide a redlined/amended version of the October 2018 
Order so as to correct the disputed affirmative findings and conclusions (See Exhibit H). 
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accomplished the first purpose above (i.e., to bind the Eliades Defendants 
as purported successors or assignees to the Rogich Trust’s potential
obligation to Nanyah).” See Exhibit C, pg. 6, ll. 1-4. 

 “...the explicit language...confirms that only Rogich Trust would be 
responsible for Nanyah’s potential claim.” Id., pg. 6, ll. 6-8.     

 “The relevant contracts are clear as day.  They explicitly show the parties’ 
intent for the Rogich Trust to remain solely responsible for Nanyah’s 
potential claim.” Id., pg. 6, ll. 16-18. 

 “Accordingly, even assuming that Nanyah’s potential claim encumbered 
the Rogich Trust’s membership interest in any respect (it did not), the 
Eliades Defendants never assumed any responsibility for that potential 
obligation.” Id., pg. 7, ll. 21-23. 

 “As shown above, Eliades testimony is entirely consistent with the relevant 
contracts, which prove that Rogich Trust solely assumed liability for 
Nanyah’s potential claim.” Id., pg. 12, ll. 11-12. 

 “When Teld became involved with Eldorado Hills ten months later in 
October of 2008, the only mention of Nanyah was in the relevant 
contracts, which explicitly stated that solely the Rogich Trust was liable 
for that potential claim.” Id., pg. 13, ll. 9-12. 

3.     Transcript of the July 26, 2018 Hearing

 Mr. Liebman: “Fourth, in 2008, when TELD LLC does become involved 
with the company, they put forward these explicit agreements that address 
Nanyah’s potential claim -- that’s the word it uses, a potentially [sic] 
claim….” See Exhibit D, pg. 5, ll. 13-16. 

C.     The language of the October 5, 2018 is inconsistent within itself.

As mentioned in section B above, the October 2018 Order includes disputed affirmative 

findings and conclusions (i.e., that The Rogich Trust has any obligation or debt owed to Nanyah 

(as a potential claimant) for its alleged investment into Eldorado Hill), which are provided for at: 

(1) Undisputed Material Facts, paragraphs 4, 5(a)(ii), 5(b)(i), 5(b)(iii), 5(b)(iv) and 5(d)(ii); and 

(2) Conclusion of Law, paragraphs 7, 9, 12, 15, 20 and 21. See Exhibit E.  Importantly, the 
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October 2018 Order itself includes the following findings and conclusions that are inconsistent 

with the affirmative findings and conclusions: 

 “...there is no basis for Nanyah--as an alleged third-party beneficiary--to 
sue the Eliades Defendants.” Id., at pg. 8, ll. 14-15. 

 “...the Eliades Defendants supposedly pursued their own individual 
advantage by seeking to interfere with the return of Nanyah’s alleged
investment in Eldorado.” Id., at pg. 9, ll. 2-3. 

     These above inconsistencies acknowledge there are still disputed material facts at issue. 

D.     Disputed Material Facts

To further support relief from the October 2018 Order, the Moving Defendants provide the 

Court with the below disputed material facts still at issue in this case.  While this is not an  

exhaustive listing of the disputed material facts, it more than supports the Moving Defendants’ 

requested relief from the October 2018 Order: 

1.    The Alleged Investment

        a.    The set-up of Nanyah Vegas, LLC and CanaMex Nevada, LLC

 In June of 2007, Mr. Harlap and Mr. Huerta were communicating 
with one another, where they were discussing Mr. Harlap’s potential investment of 
$1.5 Million into CanaMex Nevada, LLC (“CanaMex”).  Mr. Huerta directed Mr. 
Harlap to CanaMex’s website of CanaMexNevada.com and Mr. Harlap confirmed 
he was interested in investing $1.5 Million.  Mr. Harlap requested Mr. Huerta to 
set-up the Nevada company (which would become Nanyah). Mr. Huerta suggested 
he be the Registered Agent for Nanyah. See NAN234-235, attached as Exhibit I.

 CanaMex registered as a Nevada limited liability company on 
December 3, 2007, just 4 days prior to Nanyah being registered. Mr. Harlap is the 
sole manager of Nanyah. Go Global Inc. was sole the Manager/Managing Member 
of CanaMex.  See RT203 and PLTF247, attached as Exhibit J.

 Mr. Huerta was the sole officer of Go Global, Inc. See Harlap Depo 
(attached as Exhibit K), p. 10, ll: 17-21.

b.    Nanyah’s $1.5 Million Wire
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 Mr. Huerta testified (as Nanyah’s PMK) that he instructed Mr. 
Harlap to wire the money to the account of Eldorado Hills. See Nanyah PMK 
Depo (attached as Exhibit L), p. 31, ll. 4-11.

 Contrary to this deposition testimony, on December 4, 2007, Mr. 
Huerta e-mailed Mr. Harlap instructing him to wire the $1.5 Million into 
CanaMex Nevada, LLC’s bank account. See NAN241, attached as Exhibit M.

 Nowhere in the e-mailed instructions from Mr. Huerta to Mr. 
Harlap is there any indication of, or reference to, Eldorado Hills, LLC 
(“Eldorado Hills”). 

 Mr. Huerta further testified (as Nanyah’s PMK) that Nanyah wired 
the funds into Eldorado Hills’ bank account and that the money never went into 
the CanaMex’s account. See Nanyah PMK Depo/Exhibit L, p. 29, l. 21 to p. 30, l. 
14 and p. 60, 11. 5-14. Further, Mr. Harlap testified that he “transferred the money 
to Eldorado Hills as per Carlos Huerta’s wiring instructions” and that this is the 
basis of Nanyah’s claims. See Harlap Depo/Exhibit K, p. 20, l. 20 to p. 21, l. 11.

 Contrary to these deposition testimonies, the bank records show 
that Mr. Harlap actually wired the $1.5 Million into CanaMex’s Nevada State 
Bank account on December 6, 2007 in compliance with Mr. Hureta’s emailed 
instructions (not Eldorado Hills’ bank account). See NAN387-388, attached as 
Exhibit N.

c.    The Bank Transfers 

 After the alleged investment funds were wired by Mr. Harlap into 
CanaMex’s bank account, Mr. Huerta proceeded with the following series of bank 
transfers, where a majority of $1.5 Million ended up in the bank account of 
CanaMex’s sole manager/managing member (Go Global, Inc., which is a business 
solely operated by Mr. Huerta):

 CanaMex: The December 2007 bank statement for CanaMex 
shows a $1.5 Million check (#92) written to Eldorado Hills, signed by Mr. Huerta 
and processed on December 10, 2007. See NAN387-388, attached as Exhibit N. 

 Eldorado Hills: The December 2007 bank statement for Eldorado 
Hills checking account shows a $1.5 Million deposit on December 7, 2007 (which 
is the $1.5 Million check from CanaMex) and a $1.45 Million internet transfer to 
its money market account on December 10, 2007. The December 2007 bank 
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statement for Eldorado Hills money market account shows a $1.45 Million internet 
transfer deposit from the Eldorado Hills checking account on December 10, 2007 
and a $1.42 Million transfer out processed on December 14, 2007. See NAN449-
450, attached as Exhibit O. 

 Go Global: The December 2007 bank statement for Go Global 
checking account shows the Eldorado Hills transfer for $1.42 Million was 
deposited into Go Global Inc.’s account on December 14, 2007. This $1.42 
Million transfer was per “an e-mail request from Carlos Huerta”. See RT155 and 
PLTF443, attached as Exhibit P. 

d.    Investment confirmation

 December 8, 2007: Mr. Harlap received an e-mail from Summer 
Rellamas, Finance and Administration Manager with Go Global Properties, which 
attached an investment confirmation letter.  The letter thanked Mr. Harlap for his 
recent investment of $1.5 Million into CanaMex, confirmed receipt of his $1.5 
Million wire on December 6, 2007 and advised him that his 2007 federal tax forms 
should be received by February 2008.  See (NAN248-249, attached as Exhibit Q. 

 January 3, 2008: Mr. Huerta e-mailed Mr. Harlap an update on 
CanaMex and provided a letter from Go Global Properties with a subject line of 
CanaMex.  See NAN250-251, attached as Exhibit R. 

 January 30, 2008: Mr. Harlap received an e-mail from Summer 
Rellamas of Go Global Properties attaching Nanyah’s annual investor portfolio 
which summarizes its investment with Go Global Properties. See  NAN256-264, 
attached as Exhibit S. 

 March 13, 2008: Mr. Harlap received an e-mail from Huerta 
attaching an update letter on letterhead of Go Global Properties, signed by Mr. 
Huerta as Managing Manager for CanaMex, indicated that “We, at Go Global 
Properties, felt it time to send out an update in regards to our CanaMex Nevada 
project in Las Vegas” and again directed Mr. Huerta to 
www.CanaMexNevada.com. See NAN265-268, attached as Exhibit T. 

e.    The K-1s 

 Mr. Huerta (as Nanyah’s PMK) confirmed that equity and 
ownership interests are preserved by a K-1 and confirmed a tax return will show 
the ownership interest.  See Nanyah PMK/Exhibit L, p. 22, ll. 3-15. 
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 Mr. Huerta further testified (inaccurately) that Nanyah was going to 
be a member of Eldorado Hills or CanaMex, but that CanaMex didn’t happen and 
Eldorado Hills never formalized its investment with a K-1. See Huerta Depo 
(attached as Exhibit U), p. 164, ll. 7-18. 

 Contrary to this deposition testimony, but consistent with Nanyah’s 
confirmed investment in CanaMex, on April 12, 2008, CanaMex sent Nanyah a 
2007 Schedule K-1 form via an e-mail from Summer Rellamas at Go Global 
Properties. The Schedule K-1 from CanaMex shows: (1) shows Nanyah as 99% 
owner of CanaMex; (2) for the time period of December 3, 2007 through 
December 31, 2007; (3) Nanyah’s capital contribution during the year of $1.5 
Million; and (4) that after a decrease in business income of $2,515, Nanyah’s 
ending capital account with CanaMex as of December 31, 2007 was $1,497,485.  
See NAN269-270, attached as Exhibit V. 

o CanaMex additionally sent Nanyah a 2010 Schedule K-1 with a letter, which 
indicated that  its “2010 Schedule K-1 … has been filed with the partnership tax 
return of CanaMex Nevada, LLC” and further advised that “[s]hould [Nanyah] 
have any questions regarding the information reported to [it] on this Schedule K-1, 
please call.”  The 2010 K-1 shows:  (1) Nanyah still as 99% owner of CanaMex; 
(2) Nanyah’s capital account with CanaMex at $1,497,695; and (3) that after a 
decrease in business income of $10, Nanyah’s ending capital account with 
CanaMex as of December 31, 2010 was $1,497,685. See NAN389-390, attached as 
Exhibit W. 

2.    The Potential Claimants

The dispute as to the relevant contracts relate to the contracts at issue.  The 
relevant contracts provide that Mr. Rogich’ Trust will look into the potential 
claimants listed in the Purchase Agreement, and not that his Trust would pay the 
potential claimants.  In reviewing the potential claimants, Mr. Rogich knew they 
were without merit: 

 Eldorado Hills (under Mr. Huerta’s direction as the Tax Matters 
partner) had already provided to the first 2 potential claimants (The Ray Trust and  
Eddyline) with 2007 K-1s.  See RT197/RT200, attached as Exhibit X. 

 As for Antonio Nevada, Eldorado Hills had paid it in full. In fact, 
Antonio Nevada later sued Eldorado Hills as a result of being a potential claimant 
under this Purchase Agreement. Eldorado Hills was successful in defending 
against that lawsuit and obtaining a Judgment against Antonio Nevada. See 
RT192, attached as Exhibit Y. 
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 As for Nanyah, there was no K-1 issued by Eldorado Hills to 
Nanyah for 2007 and none of the financial records mentioned Nanyah. See RT164-
165, attached as Exhibit Z.  Mr. Huerta controlled the books and records of both 
companies at that time.  

3. Statute of Limitations

 Mr. Huerta testified (as Nanyah’s PMK) being aware of the 
Purchase Agreement being signed in October 2008. See Nanyah PMK 
Depo/Exhibit L, p. 26, ll. 4-18. 

 Mr. Harlap testified he first became aware of the Purchase 
Agreement in 2008. See Harlap Depo/Exhibit K, p. 16, line 19 to p. 18, l. 23. 

 Mr. Harlap testified that he understood that Nanyah’s potential 
claim to $1.5 Million investment in Eldorado Hills started from day one from his 
transferring or sending $1.5 Million in 2007. See Harlap Depo/Exhibit K, p. 74, l. 
12 to p. 75, l. 2. 

 On February 13, 2016, Mr. Huerta e-mailed Mr. Harlap 
indicating the following: “…our Nevada Supreme Court overturned the judgment 
entered, here in district court, against Nanyah Vegas and it proves that you (nor I) 
deserves what this judge Allf doled out.  Attached is the order.  It, basically, says 
that Nanyah’s claims could not have been dismissed, when Eldorado Hills, LLC 
did not prove the statute began to run, once the money was tendered, or when 
a membership interest should have been provided and maintained, on your 
behalf and how I was guaranteed that it would be by this “respected” Sig Rogich. 
This judge Allf should be exposed for the complete disgrace that she really is.” See 
NAN303, attached as Exhibit AA. 

     The above facts support this Court granting the Moving Defendants relief from the 

October 2018 Order. 

II.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD RELIEVE THE ROGICH DEFENDANTS FROM THE 

OCTOBER 5, 2018 ORDER DUE TO MISTAKE AND/OR INADVERTENCE

     NRCP 60(b) in pertinent part, allows the Court, “[o]n motion and upon such terms as are 

just”, to “relieve a party…from a final judgment, order or proceeding for the following reasons: 
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(1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect….” NRCP 60(b) (Emphasis Added).  

Moreover, the relief requested by the Moving Defendants is well within this Court’s jurisdiction 

to grant.  See A-Mark Coin Co. v. Redfield's Estate, 94 Nev. 495, 498, 582 P.2d 359, 361 (1978) 

(recognizing, in the probate context, that a court “has jurisdiction to vacate a prior order upon 

learning that it was entered through mistake” and further confirms that “[o]ur remedial rule, 

NRCP 60(b), contemplates such action.”) (citation omitted).  The instant Motion is timely filed 

within six (6) months from service of the notice of entry of the October 2018 Order.  See id.   

While, as noted above, in drafting the October 2018 Order, the Plaintiff correctly noted in 

one instance that Nanyah’s claim that it “invested” in Eldorado is only an allegation, it is clear 

that in many instances the Plaintiff neglected to clarify this fact.  Moreover, despite the fact that 

the documents at issue plainly state that Nanyah’s alleged claim is only “potential” – a significant 

detriment to Nanyah’s current position – this critical modifier failed to make its way into the 

October 2018 Order through inadvertence or neglect.  Regardless, there can be no doubt that 

Nanyah should not be able to benefit from its own error in drafting the October 2018 Order, as it 

now attempts to do by ignoring the fact that its purported claim is only “potential”, and its 

purported “investment” into Eldorado is only an allegation, not a proven fact. 

Thus, while the subject Motions for Summary Judgment were not seeking summary 

judgment against the Moving Defendants, the October 2018 Order inadvertently or mistakenly 

makes affirmative findings and conclusions that Nanyah now attempts to incorrectly construe as a 

basis for summary judgment against the Rogich Defendants, even going so far as to allege in its 

newly filed MSJ that the Moving Defendants are even prohibited from presenting any evidence in 

their defense at trial.  See generally Nanyah’s MSJ, filed on January 30, 2019. 2 3

It is worth noting that Nanyah Vegas has, in past proceedings, brought motions for 

summary judgment against the Rogich Defendants, where it sought summary judgment very 

similar to the disputed affirmative findings and conclusions provided for within the October 2018 

2 The Moving Defendants request the Court take judicial notice of Nanyah’s newly filed MSJ pursuant to NRS 
47.130 – 47.170. 

3 Eldorado Hills has also filed an MSJ based upon the October 2018 Order, which the Moving Defendants will 
also oppose for generally the same reasons set forth in this motion. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I  hereby certify that a copy of MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM THE OCTOBER 5, 

2018 ORDER PURSUANT TO NRCP 60(b) was served upon the following person(s) by 

electronic transmission through the Wiznet system pursuant to NEFCR 9, NRCP 5(b) and EDCR 

7.26, on February 6, 2019 as follows:

Mark Simons, Esq. 
6490 South McCarran Blvd., #20 
Reno, Nevada  89509 
Attorney for Plaintiff Nanyah Vegas, LLC

Via E-service 

Charles E. (“CJ”) Barnabi, Jr. 
COHEN JOHNSON PARKER 
EDWARDS 
375 E. Warm Springs Road, Suite 104 
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
Attorney for Plaintiffs Carlos Huerta  
and Go Global 

Via E-service 

Dennis Kennedy 
Joseph Liebman 
BAILEY  KENNEDY 
8984 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89148 
Attorneys for Defendants Pete Eliades,  
Teld, LLC and Eldorado Hills, LLC

Via E-service 

Michael Cristalli   Via E-service 
Janiece S. Marshall 
GENTILE CRISTALLI MILLER ARMENTI SAVARESE 
410 S. Rampart Blvd., Suite 420 
Las Vegas, NV 89145 

/s/ Morganne Westover 
An employee of   
Fennemore Craig, P.C.  



EXHIBIT A



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Page 1 of 15

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CARLOS A. HUERTA, an individual;
CARLOS A. HUERTA as Trustee of THE
ALEXANDER CHRISTOPHER TRUST, a
Trust established in Nevada as assignee of
interests of GO GLOBAL, INC., a Nevada
Corporation; NANYAH VEGAS, LLC, A
Nevada limited liability company,

Plaintiffs,
vs.

SIG ROGICH aka SIGMUND ROGICH as
Trustee of The Rogich Family Irrevocable
Trust; ELDORADO HILLS, LLC, a Nevada
limited liability company; DOES I-X; and/or
ROE CORPORATIONS I-X, inclusive,

Defendants.
_______________________________________
NANYAH VEGAS, LLC, a Nevada limited
liability company,

Plaintiff,
vs.

TELD, LLC, a Nevada limited liability
company; PETER ELIADES, individually and
as Trustee of The Eliades Survivor Trust of
10/30/08; SIGMUND ROGICH, individually
and as Trustee of The Rogich Family
Irrevocable Trust; IMITATIONS, LLC, a
Nevada limited liability company; DOES I-X;
and/or ROE CORPORATIONS I-X, inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No. A-13-686303-C
Dept. No. XXVII

DEFENDANTS PETER ELIADES,
INDIVIDUALLY AND AS TRUSTEE OF
THE ELIADES SURVIVOR TRUST OF
10/30/08, AND TELD, LLC’S MOTION
FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Hearing Date:
Hearing Time:

CONSOLIDATED WITH:

Case No. A-16-746239-C

MSJD (CIV)
DENNIS L. KENNEDY

Nevada Bar No. 1462
JOSEPH A. LIEBMAN

Nevada Bar No. 10125
BAILEYKENNEDY
8984 Spanish Ridge Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148-1302
Telephone: 702.562.8820
Facsimile: 702.562.8821
DKennedy@BaileyKennedy.com
JLiebman@BaileyKennedy.com

Attorneys for Defendants PETE ELIADES, THE
ELIADES SURVIVOR TRUST OF 10/30/08,
TELD, LLC and ELDORADO HILLS, LLC

Case Number: A-13-686303-C

Electronically Filed
6/1/2018 5:44 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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DEFENDANTS PETER ELIADES, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS TRUSTEE OF THE
ELIADES SURVIVOR TRUST OF 10/30/08, AND TELD, LLC’S MOTION FOR

SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 56, Defendants Peter Eliades, individually (“Eliades”) and as Trustee of

The Eliades Survivor Trust of 10/30/08 (the “Eliades Trust”), and Teld, LLC (“Teld”) (collectively,

the “Eliades Defendants”) move for summary judgment dismissing the following claims for relief

brought by Nanyah Vegas, LLC (“Nanyah”):

 First Claim for Relief – Breach of Contract against Teld and Eliades;

 Second Claim for Relief – Breach of Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing

against Teld and Eliades;

 Third Claim for Relief – Tortious Breach of Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair

Dealing against Teld and Eliades;

 Sixth Claim for Relief – Conspiracy against Teld, Eliades, and the Eliades Trust;

 Eighth Claim for Relief – Declaratory Relief against Teld, Eliades, and the Eliades Trust;

 Ninth Claim for Relief – Specific Performance against Teld, Eliades, and the Eliades Trust.

This Motion for Summary Judgment is based on the following Memorandum of Points and

Authorities, the exhibits attached hereto, and any oral argument heard by the Court.

DATED this 1st day of June, 2018.

BAILEYKENNEDY

By: /s/ Joseph A. Liebman
DENNIS L. KENNEDY

JOSEPH A. LIEBMAN

Attorneys for Defendants
PETE ELIADES, THE ELIADES
SURVIVOR TRUST OF 10/30/08, TELD,
LLC and ELDORADO HILLS, LLC
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NOTICE OF HEARING

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the foregoing Motion for Summary Judgment will come on

for hearing before the Court on the ______ day of _____________, 2018, at the hour of ____:____

__.M., or as soon thereafter as counsel can be heard in Dept. XXVII, at the Regional Justice Center,

200 Lewis Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada 89155.

DATED this 1st day of June, 2018.

BAILEYKENNEDY

By: /s/ Joseph A. Liebman
DENNIS L. KENNEDY

JOSEPH A. LIEBMAN

Attorneys for Defendants
PETE ELIADES, THE ELIADES
SURVIVOR TRUST OF 10/30/08, TELD,
LLC and ELDORADO HILLS, LLC

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. INTRODUCTION

Nanyah sued the Eliades Defendants because they are a deep pocket, not because they

actually did anything wrong. Nanyah dragged them into this lawsuit based on an alleged investment

in 2007 even though the Eliades Defendants did not have any involvement with Eldorado Hills,

LLC (“Eldorado”) until October of 2008. In fact, the Eliades Trust did not become an Eldorado

member until 2012.1 Further, Nanyah’s contract claims are based on agreements which do not

obligate the Eliades Defendants to do anything for Nanyah’s benefit. On the contrary, those very

agreements confirm that the Eliades Defendants are not responsible for any aspect of Nanyah’s

claim. As a matter of law, Nanyah cannot sue the Eliades Defendants as a supposed third-party

beneficiary of those agreements.

The Eliades Defendants also do not have any tort liability. Nanyah’s tortious implied

1 Nanyah’s claims and allegations that the Eliades Trust participated in some sort of fraudulent transfer in 2012
has already been dismissed by this Court via summary judgment.

05          JULY                           10:30A
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covenant claim fails because there is no evidence of a special relationship between Nanyah and the

Eliades Defendants, nor is there evidence of “grievous and perfidious misconduct.” Further, these

agreements cannot create a tort claim when they strictly preclude a contract claim. Nanyah’s civil

conspiracy claim is barred by the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine as a matter of law, because

Eliades and Rogich cannot conspire with each other as Eldorado co-agents. Likewise, Nanyah’s

civil conspiracy claim fails due to the lack of an underlying tort.

Finally, Nanyah cannot prove its alleged damages when it has failed to comply with N.R.C.P.

16.1(a)(1)(C) and failed to provide any evidence showing the alleged value of an Eldorado

membership interest. For the foregoing reasons, Nanyah’s claims against the Eliades Defendants

have no merit, and summary judgment should be entered dismissing them with prejudice.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Nanyah’s Claims Against the Eliades Defendants.

On November 4, 2016, Nanyah filed a Complaint against Sigmund Rogich, individually

(“Rogich”) and as Trustee of the Rogich Family Irrevocable Trust (the “Rogich Trust”), Imitations,

LLC (“Imitations”) (collectively, the “Rogich Defendants”), and the Eliades Defendants.2 In sum

and substance, Nanyah alleges that it invested $1,500,000.00 for a membership interest in Eldorado

which it never received.3 Notably, this investment supposedly occurred in December of 2007, ten

months before Teld became an Eldorado member and over four years before the Eliades Trust

became an Eldorado member.4

The majority of Nanyah’s remaining claims for relief are contractual. Nanyah alleges that it

is a third-party beneficiary of various agreements that were executed on or around October 30, 2008,

which supposedly memorialize its $1,500,000.00 investment in Eldorado.5 Based on this theory,

Nanyah sued some or all of the Eliades Defendants, among others, for: (1) breach of contract; (2)

2 (See generally Compl., filed Nov. 4, 2016.) This Complaint was later consolidated with Nanyah’s earlier
lawsuit against Eldorado Hills, LLC, Case No. A-13-686303-C. The sole claim remaining in that action (unjust
enrichment) is the subject of a separate Motion for Summary Judgment.

3 See generally id.

4 Id., ¶¶ 15-17, 38.

5 See generally id.
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breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (3) declaratory relief; and (4) specific

performance (the “Contract Claims”).6

Nanyah also sued some or all of the Eliades Defendants for various torts. Summary

judgment was recently entered against Nanyah on its claims for intentional interference with

contractual relations, fraudulent transfer, and constructive trust due to expiration of the statute of

limitations. Nanyah’s two remaining tort claims are: (1) tortious breach of the implied covenant of

good faith and fair dealing; and (2) civil conspiracy (the “Tort Claims”).7

B. The Relevant History of Eldorado.

Eldorado was formed in 2005 for the purpose of owning and developing approximately 161

acres of land near Boulder City, Nevada.8 Eldorado was originally comprised of Go Global, Inc.

(100% owned by Carlos Huerta) and the Rogich Trust.9 In 2007, Huerta contacted Nanyah to invest.

In December of 2007, Nanyah wired $1,500,000.00 into another entity’s bank account, which Huerta

eventually funneled into Eldorado’s bank account for a few days.10 At this time, the Eliades

Defendants had absolutely no involvement with Eldorado.

In October of 2008, approximately ten months later, Teld purchased a 1/3 interest in

Eldorado for $3,000,000.00.11 The Flangas Trust also purchased a 1/3 interest in Eldorado for

$3,000,000.00, which was quickly transferred to Teld when the Flangas Trust backed out of the

deal.12 Because Teld ended up with a larger percentage of Eldorado than originally contemplated, it

was later agreed that the Rogich Trust would re-acquire 6.67% of Eldorado from Teld.13 As a result,

6 Id., ¶¶ 85-99, 131-140.

7 Id., ¶¶ 100-108, 120-123.

8 Id., ¶ 9.

9 Operating Agreement, Ex. A (NAN_000544), attached as Exhibit 1-A (“The members, Go Global, Inc. and The
Rogich Family Irrevocable Trust will each hold their operating addresses as: 3980 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 550, Las
Vegas, NV 89109, and will retain 50.00% of all Membership Rights, Equity, and Interests within The Company….”).

10 Huerta quickly transferred $1,420,000.00 of those funds to himself as an alleged distribution, although it was
originally characterized as a “consulting fee.” (Compl., ¶ 17.)

11 See generally Oct. 30, 2008 Teld Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, attached as Exhibit 1-B.

12 See generally Oct. 30, 2008 Flangas Trust Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, attached as Exhibit 1-C;
see also Nov. 2008 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, attached as Exhibit 1-D.

13 See generally Oct. 30, 2008 Membership Interest Assignment Agreement, attached as Exhibit 1-E.
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Go Global (i.e., Huerta) no longer owned an Eldorado membership interest. These transactions were

memorialized in various written agreements, none of which included Nanyah as a party.

C. The Relevant Agreements.

Nanyah’s Contract Claims are entirely based on “the Purchase Agreement, the Membership

Interest Purchase Agreements, and the Amended and Restated Operating Agreement” (collectively,

the “Purchase Agreements”).14 Regardless of Nanyah’s arguments to the contrary, none of the

Purchase Agreements state that the Eliades Defendants agreed to pay Nanyah $1,500,000.00 or

ensure that it received an Eldorado membership interest. On the contrary, the Purchase Agreements

state that the Rogich Trust agreed to negotiate with Nanyah (amongst others) to attempt to resolve its

“potential claim.” Notably, the Rogich Trust—not Teld, Eliades, nor the Eliades Trust—agreed to

be solely responsible for Nanyah’s claim. In fact, the Purchase Agreements require the Rogich

Trust to fully defend and indemnify the Eliades Defendants with respect to any such claim.

Specifically, the Purchase Agreements state as follows:

 October 30, 2008 Purchase Agreement between Go Global, Carlos Huerta, and the Rogich

Trust:15

 “[Go Global and Huerta] owns a membership interest … in Eldorado Hills, LLC …

equal or greater than thirty-five percent and which may be as high as forty-nine and

forty-four one hundredths (49.44%) of the total ownership interests in the Company.

Such interest, as well as the ownership interest currently held by [the Rogich Trust],

may be subject to certain potential claims of those entities set forth and attached

hereto in Exhibit ‘A’ and incorporated by this reference (‘Potential Claimants’). [The

Rogich Trust] intends to negotiate such claims with [Go Global and Huerta’s]

assistance so that such claimants confirm or convert the amounts set forth beside the

name of each said claimants into non-interest bearing debt, or an equity percentage to

be determined by [the Rogich Trust] after consultation with [Go Global and Huerta]

as desired by [Go Global and Huerta], with no capital calls for monthly payments,

14 Compl., ¶ 88.

15 None of the Eliades Defendants are parties to the October 30, 2008 Purchase Agreement.
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and a distribution in respect of their claims in amounts from the one-third (1/3rd)

ownership interest in [Eldorado] retained by [the Rogich Trust].”16

 [Go Global and Huerta], however, will not be responsible to pay the Exhibit A

Claimants their percentage or debt. This will be [the Rogich Trust’s] obligation,

moving forward….”17

 October 30, 2008 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement between the Rogich Trust,

Teld, Go Global and Huerta:18

 “[The Rogich Trust] is the owner, beneficially and of record, of the Membership

Interest, free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, security agreements, equities,

options, claims, charges, and restrictions, and [Teld] will receive at Closing good and

absolute title thereto free of any liens, charges or encumbrances thereon.”19

 “[The Rogich Trust] shall defend, indemnify, and hold [Teld] harmless from any and

all the claims of Eddyline Investments, LLC, Ray Family Trust, Nanyah Vegas, LLC,

and Antonio Nevada, LLC, each of whom invested or otherwise advanced the funds,

plus certain possible claimed accrued interest.”20

 “It is the current intention of [the Rogich Trust] that such amounts be confirmed or

converted to debt, with no obligation to participate in capital calls or monthly

payments, a pro-rata distribution at such time as [Eldorado’s] real property is sold or

otherwise disposed of. Regardless of whether this intention is realized, [the Rogich

Trust] shall remain solely responsible for any claims by the above referenced

entities set forth in this section above.”21

 “The ‘pro-rata distributions’ hereinabove referenced shall mean equal one-third

16 October 30, 2008 Purchase Agreement, attached as Exhibit 1-F, Recital A (emphasis added).

17 Id., § 4 (emphasis added).

18 The Eliades Trust is not a party to the October 30, 2008 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement. Further,
Eliades was only a limited party for the sole purpose of guaranteeing Eldorado’s pending bank loan. (Ex. 1-B, § 8(b).)

19 Id., § 4(a) (emphasis added).

20 Id., § 8(c) (emphasis added).

21 Id., § 8(c)(i) (emphasis added).
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shares pursuant to the ownership set forth in Section 3 above, provided, that any

amounts owing to those entities set forth on Exhibit ‘D,’ or who shall otherwise claim

an ownership interest based upon contributions or advances directly or indirectly to

[Eldorado] made prior to the date of this agreement, shall be satisfied solely by [the

Rogich Trust].”22

 “The parties agree that [the Rogich Trust] may transfer [the Rogich Trust’s]

ownership interest in [Eldorado] to one or more of the entities set forth in Exhibit ‘D’

to satisfy any claims such entity may have.”23

 “[The Rogich Trust] confirms that certain amounts have been advanced to or on

behalf of [Eldorado Hills] by certain third parties, as referenced in Section 8 of the

Agreement. [The Rogich Trust] shall endeavor to convert the amounts advanced into

non-interest bearing promissory notes for which [the Rogich Trust] shall be

responsible. Regardless of whether the amounts are so converted, [the Rogich Trust]

shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless [Eldorado] and its members for any

claims by the parties listed below, and any other party claiming interest in [Eldorado]

as a result of transactions prior to the date of this Agreement against [Eldorado] or its

Members. …

3. Nanyah Vegas, LLC (through Canamex Nevada, LLC) $1,500,000.00.”24

 October 30, 2008 Amended and Restated Operating Agreement between the Rogich Trust,

the Flangas Trust, and Teld:25

 “The Rogich Trust will retain a one-third (1/3rd) ownership interest in [Eldorado]

(subject to certain possible dilution or other indemnification responsibilities assumed

by the Rogich Trust in the Purchase Documents).”26

22 Id., § 8(c)(ii) (emphasis added).

23 Id., § 8(g).

24 Id., Exhibit D (emphasis added).

25 Eliades and the Eliades Trust are not parties to the Amended and Restated Operating Agreement. (Am. and
Restated Op. Agreement, attached as Exhibit 1-G.)

26 Id., Recital B (emphasis added).
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 “The Rogich trust shall indemnify and hold the Flangas Trust and Teld harmless from

and against the claims of any individuals or entities claiming to be entitled to a share

of profits and losses other than the Rogich Trust, the Flangas Trust and Teld, so as not

to diminish the one-third (1/3rd) participation in profits and losses by each of the

Flangas Trust and Teld.”27

 January 1, 2012 Membership Interest Assignment Agreement between the Rogich Trust

and the Eliades Trust:28

 “Rogich has acquired a forty percent (40%) interest in Eldorado Hills, LLC, a Nevada

limited-liability company … as of the date hereof… (Within the Rogich 40% is a

potential 1.12% interest of other holders not of formal record with Eldorado).”29

 “Rogich has not, other than as previously stated, transferred, sold, conveyed or

encumbered any of his Forty Percent (40%) to any other person or entity prior to this

Agreement, except for the potential claims of .95% held by The Robert Ray Family

Trust and .17% held by Eddyline Investments, L.L.C.”30

D. Nanyah’s Alleged Damages.

On April 21, 2017, Nanyah served its initial disclosures pursuant to N.R.C.P. 16.1. With

respect to Nanyah’s damages disclosure, Nanyah stated the following:

See Damages identified in Nanyah’s Complaint. As interest is
continuing to accrue, Nanyah will supplement its damage calculation on
appropriate intervals.31

Notably, the only “damages” mentioned in Nanyah’s Complaint are the boilerplate $10,000.00

allegations required for subject matter jurisdiction.32 Nanyah never supplemented its damages

disclosure throughout this litigation. Nanyah never provided any calculations or evidence

showing the alleged value of Nanyah’s supposed membership interest in Eldorado. Nanyah never

27 Id., § 4.1(a).

28 Membership Interest Assignment Agreement, attached as Exhibit 1-H.

29 Id., Recital A.

30 Id., § 3(c).

31 Nanyah Vegas, LLC’s NRCP 16.1 Case Conference Production, attached as Exhibit 2.

32 See, e.g., Compl., ¶¶ 93, 99.
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provided any information regarding the alleged amount or theory of damages for the various

Contract Claims and Tort Claims it asserted against the Eliades Defendants.

III. ARGUMENT

A. Legal Standard.

“Summary judgment is appropriate and ‘shall be rendered forthwith’ when the pleadings and

other evidence on file demonstrate that no ‘genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that

the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.’” Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev.

724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005) (quoting N.R.C.P. 56(c)). “[T]he non-moving party must, by

competent evidence, produce specific facts that demonstrate the presence of a genuine issue for

trial.” Elizabeth E. v. ADT Sec. Sys. W., Inc., 108 Nev. 889, 892, 839 P.2d 1308, 1310 (1992). The

non-moving party’s burden must be borne on each and every element of its claims for relief;

“[w]here an essential element of a claim for relief is absent, the facts, disputed or otherwise, as to

other elements are rendered immaterial and summary judgment is proper.” Barmettler v. Reno Air,

Inc., 114 Nev. 441, 446-47, 956 P.2d 1382, 1386 (1998).

B. The Eliades Defendants Do Not Owe Any Contractual Duties to Nanyah as an Alleged
Third-Party Beneficiary to the Purchase Agreements.

Nanyah’s third-party beneficiary theory is comparable to the failed third-party beneficiary

argument in Lipshie v. Tracy Inv. Co., 93 Nev. 370, 566 P.2d 819 (1977). Although there was an

agreement whereby one party (Bonanza No. 2) agreed to pay a debt to Norman Lipshie, the other

contracting party (Tracy Investment Company) did not agree to assume any such debt. Notably, in

rejecting the third-party beneficiary claim against Tracy, the Court stated as follows:

Here, although Appellant was mentioned in the agreement and he would
indeed receive a benefit, there was no promise, at least on the part of Tracy,
to satisfy his indebtedness. The agreement between Tracy and Wolf
provides only that the obligation of Bonanza to Lipshie for the amount of
the extraordinary loan would survive the bankruptcy proceedings. The
matter of negotiations between Tracy and Wolf, the intent of the parties,
and the tenor of the agreement make it plain that Tracy did not assume, or
intend to assume, any obligation to Lipshie.

Id. at 379-380, 566 P.2d at 825 (emphasis added).
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The Eliades Defendants are in a similar posture to Tracy. Nanyah cannot point to any

language within the Purchase Agreements (or any other written agreement) which shows that any of

the Eliades Defendants owed any sort of contractual obligation to Nanyah. On the contrary, the

Purchase Agreements merely state that the Rogich Trust would negotiate with Nanyah (amongst

others) to attempt to resolve its claim. Notably, the Rogich Trust—not Teld, Eliades, or the Eliades

Trust—agreed to be responsible for Nanyah’s potential claim.33 Even Nanyah admits that its

Eldorado membership interest was supposed to come from the Rogich Trust.34 As a matter of law,

the Eliades Defendants do not owe any contractual obligations to Nanyah as a third-party

beneficiary. Accordingly, summary judgment should be entered, dismissing all of the Contract

Claims against the Eliades Defendants.35

C. Summary Judgment Should be Entered Against Nanyah on its Tort Claims.

1. Nanyah’s Tortious Implied Covenant Claim is Missing Many Required Elements.

A claim for tortious breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing only arises

if there is a “special relationship” between the parties. State, Univ. and Comm. Coll. Sys. v. Sutton,

120 Nev. 972, 989, 103 P.3d 8, 19 (2004). Further, the plaintiff must prove that the alleged

tortfeasor engaged in “‘grievous and perfidious misconduct.’” Id. (citation omitted). A tortious

implied covenant claim will only arise in “rare and exceptional circumstances.” Ins. Co. of the West

v. Gibson Tile Co., Inc., 122 Nev. 455, 461, 134 P.3d 698, 702 (2006) (citation omitted).

There is no basis for any sort of special relationship between Nanyah and the Eliades

Defendants. Nanyah’s principal, Yoav Harlap, testified that he has never even spoken with

Eliades.36 The Eliades Defendants had absolutely no involvement with Eldorado when Nanyah

33 See, e.g., Ex. 1-B, § 8(c)(i).

34 Nanyah’s Opp’n to Mot. for S. Judg., 18:17-20, filed March 19, 2018 (“Based on the terms of the original
Purchase Agreement, the Membership Interest Purchase Agreements and the Eldorado Amended Operating Agreement,
Nanyah’s membership interest would come from part of the Rogich Trust’s membership interest rather than Eldorado
issuing an additional membership interest.”) (emphasis added).

35 Because Nanyah’s implied covenant claim is identical to its breach of contract claim, (compare Compl., ¶ 92
with ¶ 97), summary judgment should be entered on those grounds as well. See Shaw v. CitiMortgage, Inc., 201
F.Supp.3d 1222, 1252 (D. Nev. 2016) (“It is well established that a claim alleging breach of the implied covenants of
good faith and fair dealing cannot be based on the same conduct establishing a separately pled breach of contract
claim.”) (citations omitted).

36 Dep. Trans. of Yoav Harlap, 32:22-23, attached as Exhibit 3.
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provided its $1,500,000.00 to Huerta. Likewise, there is no evidence of any “grievous or perfidious

misconduct” by any of the Eliades Defendants that would permit Nanyah to pursue the “rare and

exceptional” claim of a tortious breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

Further, “the implied covenant or duty of good faith and fair dealing does not create rights or

duties beyond those agreed to by the parties.” 17A C.J.S. Contracts § 437. Nanyah cannot seek tort

liability based on the Purchase Agreements because there is nothing within those agreements which

imposes any sort of obligation on the Eliades Defendants for Nanyah’s benefit. On the contrary, the

Purchase Agreements reiterate over and over again that only the Rogich Trust is responsible for

Nanyah’s potential investment. Accordingly, summary judgment should be entered dismissing

Nanyah’s tortious implied covenant claim against the Eliades Defendants.

2. Nanyah’s Civil Conspiracy Claim is Barred by the Intra-Corporate Conspiracy
Doctrine and the Lack of an Underlying Tort.

“Agents and employees of a corporation cannot conspire with their corporate principal or

employer where they act in their official capacities on behalf of the corporation and not as

individuals for their individual advantage.” Collins v. Union Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n, 99 Nev. 284,

303, 662 P.2d 610, 622 (1983).

Nanyah alleges that various owners/agents of Eldorado Hills (e.g., Teld, the Rogich Trust,

the Eliades Trust) conspired with one another in order to prohibit Nanyah from receiving its

membership interest. All of these conspiracy allegations relate back to two individuals making

decisions on behalf of Eldorado—Eliades and Rogich. In other words, Nanyah is alleging that

Eldorado conspired with itself. Therefore, there is no “combination of two or more persons,” a

necessary element for a civil conspiracy claim.

Further, “[c]ivil conspiracy requires the existence of an underlying tort.” Markey v. Bank of

Am., N.A., 2012 WL 3317789, at *3 (D. Nev. Aug. 10, 2012). Nanyah’s Complaint fails to identify

any alleged tort supporting its conspiracy claim.37 For the reasons stated above, Nanyah’s last

remaining tort claim (tortious implied covenant claim) must be dismissed. Without an underlying

37 Compl., ¶¶ 120-123.
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tort to support the conspiracy claim, it fails as a matter of law. Accordingly, summary judgment

should be entered dismissing all the Tort Claims.

D. Nanyah Cannot Prove its Alleged Damages.

[A] party must, without awaiting a discovery request, provide to other
parties … [a] computation of any category of damages claimed by the
disclosing party making available for inspection and copying as under
Rule 34 the documents or other evidentiary matter, not privileged or
protected from disclosure, on which such computation is based,
including materials bearing on the nature and extent of injuries suffered.

N.R.C.P. 16.1(a)(1)(C). “[T]he ‘category of damages’ disclosure requires more than a list of the

broad types of damages.” Olaya v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., No. 2:11-cv-997-KJD-CWH, 2012 WL

3262875, at *2 (D. Nev. Aug. 7, 2012).38 This rule also “‘requires more than merely setting forth

the figure demanded.’” Max Impact, LLC v. Sherwood Group, Inc., No. 09 Civ. 902(JGK)(HBP),

2014 WL 902649, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. March 7, 2014) (citations omitted); accord CCR/AG Showcase

Phase 1 Owner, L.L.C. v. United Artists Theatre Circuit, Inc., No. 2:08-cv-00984-RCJ-GWF, 2010

WL 1947016, at *5 (D. Nev. May 13, 2010) (“[T]he word ‘computation’ contemplates some analysis

beyond merely setting forth a lump sum amount for a claimed element of damages.”) (citation

omitted).

Nanyah failed to comply with N.R.C.P. 16.1(a)(1)(C). Its disclosures do not contain any

information or evidence relating to Nanyah’s alleged damages. As a result, Nanyah does not have

any admissible evidence to prove its alleged damages. For example, it has not disclosed any

evidence or expert testimony which would show the value of Nanyah’s supposed membership

interest in Eldorado. It has not disclosed the percentage of the membership interest to which it

believes it is entitled, and how that amount was calculated. The mere fact that Nanyah invested

$1,500,000.00 does not mean it has $1,500,000.00 in damages. Issuance of a membership interest in

a corporate entity does not guarantee repayment of the investment, especially if Eldorado is

unsuccessful. As stated in the Operating Agreement at the time of Nanyah’s alleged investment:

38 Federal cases interpreting rules of civil procedure are persuasive authority in Nevada courts. Exec. Mgmt. Ltd.
v. Ticor Title Ins. Co., 118 Nev. 46, 53, 38 P.3d 872, 876 (2002) (citing Las Vegas Novelty v. Fernandez, 106 Nev. 113,
119, 787 P.2d 772, 776 (1990)).
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Each Member shall look solely to the Property of the Company for the
return of his investment, and if the Property remaining after the payment
or discharge of the debts and liabilities of the Company is insufficient
to return the investment of each Member, such Member shall have no
recourse against the Company [or] any other Member, or their
employees and agents for indemnification, contribution, or
reimbursement.39

Members were only entitled to share in the “income, gains, losses, deductions, credit, or similar

items of, and to receive Distributions from, the Company….”40 Further, they were obligated to

make the following investment representation and warranty:

Economic Risk. By reason of each Member’s business and financial
experience, each Member has the capacity to protect such Member’s
interests in connection with the purchase of such Member’s Units and
can bear the economic risk of such Member’s proposed investment,
including the loss of the entire amount of the investment.41

Without admissible evidence supporting the value of Eldorado’s supposed right to a membership

interest, the percentage amount of that membership interest, and that it would have actually been a

successful investment, all of Nanyah’s claims (with the exception of declaratory relief and specific

performance) fail as a matter of law.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, summary judgment should be entered against Nanyah and in favor

of the Eliades Defendants with respect to the Contract Claims and Tort Claims.

DATED this 1st day of June, 2018.

BAILEYKENNEDY

By: /s/ Joseph A. Liebman
DENNIS L. KENNEDY

JOSEPH A. LIEBMAN

Attorneys for Defendants
PETE ELIADES, THE ELIADES
SURVIVOR TRUST OF 10/30/08, TELD,
LLC and ELDORADO HILLS, LLC

39 Operating Agreement, attached as Exhibit 1-I, § 12.3

40 Id., §§ 2.18; 9.1; 17.12.

41 Id., § 17.5 (emphasis added).
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that I am an employee of BAILEYKENNEDY and that on the 1st day of June,

2018, service of the foregoing DEFENDANTS PETER ELIADES, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS

TRUSTEE OF THE ELIADES SURVIVOR TRUST OF 10/30/08, AND TELD, LLC’S

MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT was made by mandatory electronic service through the

Eighth Judicial District Court’s electronic filing system and/or by depositing a true and correct copy

in the U.S. Mail, first class postage prepaid, and addressed to the following at their last known

address:

MARK G. SIMONS, ESQ.
SIMONS LAW, PC
6490 So. McCarran Blvd., #20
Reno, NV 89509

Email: mark@mgsimonslaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff
NANYAH VEGAS, LLC

SAMUEL S. LIONEL, ESQ.
FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C.
300 S. Fourth Street, Suite 1400
Las Vegas, NV 89101

Email: slionel@fclaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant
SIG ROGICH aka SIGMUND
ROGICH, Individually and as
Trustee of THE ROGICH FAMILY
IRREVOCABLE TRUST, and
IMITATIONS, LLC

CHARLES E. (“CJ”) BARNABI JR.
COHEN JOHNSON PARKER
EDWARDS
375 E. Warm Springs Road, Suite 104
Las Vegas, NV 89119

Email: cj@cohenjohnson.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
CARLOS A. HUERTA,
individually and as Trustee of THE
ALEXANDER CHRISTOPHER
TRUST, and GO GLOBAL, INC.

/s/ Sharon L. Murnane
Employee of BAILEYKENNEDY
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CARLOS A. HUERTA, an individual;
CARLOS A. HUERTA as Trustee of THE
ALEXANDER CHRISTOPHER TRUST, a
Trust established in Nevada as assignee of
interests of GO GLOBAL, INC., a Nevada
Corporation; NANYAH VEGAS, LLC, A
Nevada limited liability company,

Plaintiffs,
vs.

SIG ROGICH aka SIGMUND ROGICH as
Trustee of The Rogich Family Irrevocable
Trust; ELDORADO HILLS, LLC, a Nevada
limited liability company; DOES I-X; and/or
ROE CORPORATIONS I-X, inclusive,

Defendants.
_______________________________________
NANYAH VEGAS, LLC, a Nevada limited
liability company,

Plaintiff,
vs.

TELD, LLC, a Nevada limited liability
company; PETER ELIADES, individually and
as Trustee of The Eliades Survivor Trust of
10/30/08; SIGMUND ROGICH, individually
and as Trustee of The Rogich Family
Irrevocable Trust; IMITATIONS, LLC, a
Nevada limited liability company; DOES I-X;
and/or ROE CORPORATIONS I-X, inclusive,

Defendants.

Case No. A-13-686303-C
Dept. No. XXVII

DEFENDANT ELDORADO HILLS,
LLC’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF ITS
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
AND OPPOSITION TO
COUNTERMOTION FOR SUMMARY
JUDGMENT

Hearing Date: 7/26/18
Hearing Time: 10:30 a.m.

CONSOLIDATED WITH:

Case No. A-16-746239-C

RIS (CIV)
DENNIS L. KENNEDY

Nevada Bar No. 1462
JOSEPH A. LIEBMAN

Nevada Bar No. 10125
BAILEYKENNEDY
8984 Spanish Ridge Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148-1302
Telephone: 702.562.8820
Facsimile: 702.562.8821
DKennedy@BaileyKennedy.com
JLiebman@BaileyKennedy.com

Attorneys for Defendants PETE ELIADES, THE
ELIADES SURVIVOR TRUST OF 10/30/08,
TELD, LLC and ELDORADO HILLS, LLC

Case Number: A-13-686303-C

Electronically Filed
7/19/2018 2:47 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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DEFENDANT ELDORADO HILLS, LLC’S REPLY IN
SUPPORT OF ITS MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND

OPPOSITION TO COUNTERMOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Defendant Eldorado Hills, LLC (“Eldorado Hills”) files its Reply in Support of its Motion for

Summary Judgment (the “Motion”). Additionally, Eldorado Hills opposes Nanyah Vegas, LLC’s

(“Nanyah”) Countermotion for Summary Judgment (the “Countermotion”). This Reply/Opposition

is based on the following Memorandum of Points of Authorities, the exhibits attached hereto and to

the related briefs, and any oral argument heard by the Court.

DATED this 19th day of July, 2018.

BAILEYKENNEDY

By: /s/ Joseph A. Liebman
DENNIS L. KENNEDY

JOSEPH A. LIEBMAN

Attorneys for Defendants
PETE ELIADES, THE ELIADES
SURVIVOR TRUST OF 10/30/08, TELD,
LLC and ELDORADO HILLS, LLC

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. INTRODUCTION

Corporate law 101—the Rogich Family Irrevocable Trust (the “Rogich Trust”) and Eldorado

Hills are not one and the same. Just because the Rogich Trust supposedly agreed to repay Nanyah

does not mean that Eldorado Hills also agreed to pay Nanyah. In fact, quite to the contrary, as the

written agreements on which Nanyah continually relies explicitly confirm that solely the Rogich

Trust—and not Eldorado Hills—was responsible for Nanyah’s potential claim.

Knowing it does not have a claim against Eldorado Hills, Nanyah is attempting to complicate

a simple issue. It is undisputed that Eldorado Hills only had access to Nanyah’s $1,500,000.00

payment for a few days. It is also undisputed that the vast majority of Nanyah’s payment

($1,420,000.00) was transferred to Go Global, LLC (“Go Global”) by Carlos Huerta. Nanyah’s

claim that Eldorado Hills paid Go Global $1,420,000.00 to satisfy an Eldorado Hills’ debt is false.

The $1,420,000.00 payment satisfied a Rogich Trust debt to Go Global. That is precisely why the
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written agreements confirm that the Rogich Trust—not Eldorado Hills—is solely responsible for

Nanyah’s potential claim. Eldorado Hills is a temporary innocent recipient of Nanyah’s

$1,500,000.00 payment, and therefore, summary judgment should be entered dismissing Nanyah’s

unjust enrichment claim against Eldorado Hills.

Despite this Court’s admonition that it does not consider dispositive motions via

countermotion because of due process concerns, Nanyah brazenly filed an untimely Countermotion

seeking three forms of dispositive relief.1 Irrespective of the multiple procedural issues with the

Countermotion, it is also substantively incorrect for numerous reasons. First, Nanyah does not have

a pending claim for an implied-in-fact contract and it is too late to amend its pleadings. Second,

Nanyah did not provide sufficient evidence of the obligations making up this supposed implied-in-

fact contract. Third, Nanyah failed to show the absence of a genuine issue of material fact with

respect to its claim that it invested $1,500,000.00 in Eldorado, as ample documentary evidence

shows it actually invested in Canamex Nevada, LLC (one of Carlos Huerta’s other entities). Fourth,

for the reasons described in support of the Motion, Nanyah’s unjust enrichment claim fails as a

matter of law. Thus, the Countermotion should be denied.

II. ADDITIONAL UNDISPUTED FACTS

A. Eldorado Hills Is Not a Party to Any of the Agreements at Issue—Further, Not a Single
One of These Agreements State That Eldorado Hills Is Responsible for Nanyah’s
Potential Claim.

Much of Nanyah’s Opposition is comprised of citations to various agreements which it

misleadingly uses to argue that Eldorado Hills is liable for $1,500,000.00 under an unjust enrichment

theory. In doing so, Nanyah conveniently ignores several salient and undisputed facts.

First, Eldorado Hills is not a party to any of these agreements. The October 30, 2008

Purchase Agreement is between Go Global, Huerta, and the Rogich Trust.2 The October 30, 2008

Membership Interest Purchase Agreement is between the Rogich Trust, Teld, Go Global, and

1 Two of these three forms of dispositive relief were already requested by Nanyah and denied by this Court just
two months ago. (Order Denying Countermotion for Summary Judgment and Denying NRCP 56(f) Relief, filed May
22, 2018.)

2 See generally Ex. 1-B to Def. Eldorado Hills, LLC’s Mot. for Summary Judgment (the “Motion”), filed June 1,
2018.
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Huerta.3 The October 30, 2008 Amended and Restated Operating Agreement is between the Rogich

Trust, the Flangas Trust, and Teld.4 There is no legal basis to hold non-party Eldorado Hills liable

based on the language in these agreements. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. v. KB Home, 632

F.Supp.2d 1013, 1023 (D. Nev. 2009) (“Generally under Nevada law, ‘no one is liable upon a

contract except those who are parties to it.’”) (citation omitted).

Even worse, none of these agreements contain any language indicating that Eldorado Hills is

responsible for Nanyah’s potential claim. On the contrary, each and every agreement explicitly

states that the Rogich Trust is solely responsible for Nanyah’s potential claim.5 Nanyah

continuously refers to Exhibit D to the October 30, 2008 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement

between the Rogich Trust, Teld, Go Global, and Huerta, arguing it is proof that all of the parties

agreed that Eldorado Hills was responsible for Nanyah’s $1,500,000.00 investment. Unsurprisingly,

Nanyah refuses to quote the entirety of Exhibit D, which states as follows:

QUALIFICATION OF REPRESENTATIONS OF [THE ROGICH TRUST]

[The Rogich Trust] confirms that certain amounts have been advanced to or on behalf
of [Eldorado Hills] by certain third parties, as referenced in Section 8 of the Agreement.
[The Rogich Trust] shall endeavor to convert the amounts advanced into non-interest
bearing promissory notes for which [The Rogich Trust] shall be responsible.
Regardless of whether the amounts are so converted, [The Rogich Trust] shall defend,
indemnify, and hold harmless [Eldorado Hills] and its members for any claims by
the parties listed below, and any other party claiming interest in [Eldorado Hills] as a
result of transactions prior to the date of this Agreement against [Eldorado Hills] and
its members.

1. Eddyline Investments, LLC (potential investor or debtor) $50,000.00

2. Ray Family Trust (potential investor or debtor) $283,561.60

3. Nanyah Vegas, LLC (through Canamex Nevada, LLC) $1,500,000.00

4. Antonio Nevada/Jakob $3,360,000.006

Exhibit D does not contain any language whereby Eldorado Hills—a non-party to the Agreement—

admits that Nanyah invested $1,500,000.00 in Eldorado Hills. On the contrary, the information

3 See generally Ex. 1-C to Mot.

4 See generally Ex. 1-D to Mot.

5 Mot., 7:1-9:3.

6 Ex. 1-C to Mot., Exhibit D (emphasis added).
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contained in Exhibit D was a representation solely by the Rogich Trust. Even more importantly,

Exhibit D confirms that Eldorado Hills was not responsible for any of these potential claims, and

that the Rogich Trust was solely responsible. As explained above, the Rogich Trust and Eldorado

Hills are not one and the same. To the extent Nanyah relies on these agreements, they actually

defeat its unjust enrichment claim.

B. Pete Eliades’ Testimony Does Not Support Nanyah’s Arguments.

Again, Nanyah tries to misleadingly conflate the Rogich Trust and Eldorado Hills when

citing Mr. Eliades’ deposition testimony.7 Specifically, when Mr. Eliades testified “[t]hat’s the way

it was,” it was within the following context:

Q And under paragraph three, it identifies that “At the conclusion of the transaction,
Teld will own one-third of Eldorado Hills, the Flangas Trust will own one-third, and
the Rogich Trust will own one-third subject to those investors for whom the Rogich
Trust shall assume responsibility.” Do you remember that?

A Yes.

Q Okay. Is that your understanding of how the transaction also went down?

A That’s the way it was.8

When the entirety of Mr. Eliades’ testimony is revealed, his answer has nothing to do with Eldorado

Hills’ supposed liability and everything to do with the Rogich Trust’s liability. Again, Eldorado

Hills and the Rogich Trust are not one and the same.9

///

///

///

7 Opp’n to Eldorado Hills’ Mot. for Summary Judgment and Countermotion for Summary Judgment (the
“Opposition to Eldorado MSJ”), 10:17-27, filed June 19, 2018 (misleadingly referencing “contractual duties owed by
Eldorado and Rogich to Nanyah…”).

8 Ex. 17 to Opp’n to Eliades Defs.’ Mot. for Summary Judgment and Countermot. for Summary Judgment (the
“Opposition to Eliades Defendants’ MSJ”), 21:20-22:6, filed June 19, 2018 (emphasis added).

9 Despite its failure to attach or quote any of her testimony in the Opposition, Nanyah misleadingly claims that
Dolores Eliades testified that Eldorado Hills owed Nanyah $1,500,000.00. (Opp’n to Eldorado MSJ, 18:23-25.).
Dolores Eliades never testified that Eldorado Hills owed Nanyah anything. Just like Mr. Eliades’ testimony, Dolores
Eliades testified that the Rogich Trust was solely responsible for Nanyah’s potential claim. (Opp’n to Eliades Defs.’
MSJ, 17:17-19:1.) Eldorado Hills and the Rogich Trust are not one and the same.
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III. ARGUMENT RELATING TO MOTION

A. Nanyah Failed to Show a Genuine Issue of Material Fact With Respect to Its Unjust
Enrichment Claim.

Nanyah’s only pending claim against Eldorado Hills is the equitable claim of unjust

enrichment. Nanyah has not asserted any contractual claims against Eldorado Hills, nor has it

asserted any tort claims against Eldorado Hills.10 On summary judgment, one would expect

Nanyah—which has the burden of proof—to provide a clear basis for its sole claim for relief.

Certified Fire Prot., Inc. v. Precision Constr. Inc., 128 Nev. 371, 381, 283, P.3d 250, 257 (2012)

(The plaintiff “must establish each element of unjust enrichment.”). Nanyah failed to do so, and

instead spent the vast majority of its Opposition trying to prove the Rogich Trust’s liability. Again,

Eldorado Hills and the Rogich Trust are not one and the same. See Haugrud v. Craig, 903

N.W.2d 537, 541 (N.D. 2017) (“Equally settled is that a LLC and its members are separate and

distinct entities….”); Geis v. Colina Del Rio, LP, 362 S.W.3d 100, 109 (Tex. App. 2011) (A

“member or manager of a limited liability company” is “legally distinct” from the company.); In re

Erskine, 550 B.R. 362, 370 (Bankr. W.D. Tenn. 2016) (“[T]he assets and liabilities of a limited

liability company are separate from the assets and liabilities of its members.”).

Nanyah argues that the “internal use of Nanyah’s money is entirely irrelevant to Nanyah’s

right to receive the return of its $1.5 million investment.”11 Nanyah does not cite any legal authority

for this argument. Nor could it, because it is incorrect as a matter of law. Under binding Nevada

precedent, an unjust enrichment claim—the sole claim Nanyah asserted against Eldorado Hills—

requires sufficient proof of three separate elements. The plaintiff must confer a benefit on the

defendant, the defendant must appreciate such benefit, and there must be acceptance and retention

by the defendant of such benefit under circumstances such that it would be inequitable for him to

retain the benefit without payment of the value thereof. Unionamerica Mortg. and Equity Trust v.

McDonald, 97 Nev. 210, 212, 626 P.2d 1272, 1273 (1981) (citation omitted).

10 See generally First. Am. Compl., Case No. A-13-686303-C, filed Nov. 21, 2013.

11 Opp’n to Eldorado MSJ, 14:12-14.
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Perhaps the beneficial use of Nanyah’s money is irrelevant for Nanyah’s potential claim

against the Rogich Trust since it explicitly agreed to be solely responsible. However, with respect to

Eldorado Hills and the theory of unjust enrichment, it very much matters what happened to the

money. As shown above and below, Eldorado Hills did not benefit from or retain the $1,500,000.00

payment—the Rogich Trust benefitted and Go Global retained the money. To be sure, even Nanyah

admits that its $1,500,000.00 payment was the Rogich Trust’s responsibility and not Eldorado

Hills’ responsibility.12 While Nanyah may have a claim for the return of its money, it does not have

a claim against Eldorado Hills, let alone an unjust enrichment claim. Accordingly, summary

judgment should be entered, dismissing Nanyah’s unjust enrichment claim against Eldorado Hills.

B. The $1,420,000.00 Payment to Go Global Did Not Relate to an Eldorado Hills Debt—It
Related to a Rogich Trust Debt.

“Go Global and the Rogich Trust were 50%-50% owners of Eldorado. As such, they both

were obligated to fund 50% of Eldorado expenses.”13 This is one of the few statements by Nanyah

that is consistent with Nevada law. As stated in the Motion, NRS 86.391 renders each member of an

LLC liable to the LLC for any capital contribution shortfall. See also JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,

632 F.Supp.2d at 1025 (“The Nevada limited liability company statutes provide that a member is

liable to a limited liability company for contributions that the member agreed to pay.”); Julka v. U.S.

Bank Nat’l Ass’n, 516 S.W.3d 84, 88 (Tex. App. 2017) (“[C]ontributions made to the company

become the company’s assets; they are no longer the personal assets of the company’s members.”).

When the Rogich Trust failed to provide its 50% capital contribution obligation for the

Antonio Nevada payment, the Rogich Trust owed that shortfall to Eldorado Hills. Go Global then

increased its capital contribution to Eldorado Hills to cover the Rogich Trust’s shortfall.14 If

12 Opp’n to Mot. for Summary Judgment; Countermot. for Summary Judgment; and Countermot. for NRCP 56(f)
Relief, 18:17-20, filed March 19, 2018 (“Based on the terms of the original Purchase Agreement, the Membership
Interest Purchase Agreements and the Eldorado Amended Operating Agreement, Nanyah’s membership interest would
come from part of the Rogich Trust’s membership interest rather than Eldorado issuing an additional membership
interest.”) (emphasis added).

13 Opp’n to Eldorado MSJ, 15:5-9.

14 Nanyah misleadingly claims that Go Global loaned these extra funds to Eldorado Hills. The evidence proves
the contrary. In the document cited and relied upon by Nanyah, it is described as a “CC [Capital Contribution] to cover
Antonio Nevada payment.” (Ex. 2-H to Mot., PLTF 568.) Although other Go Global payments were described as loans,
the payment related to Antonio Nevada was explicitly classified as a capital contribution. Id.; see also In re Williams,
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Nanyah’s $1,500,000.00 payment reimbursed Go Global for this additional capital contribution, it

did not provide a benefit to Eldorado Hills because it was already entitled to those funds under NRS

86.391—it just received them from a different member. The only entities which actually benefitted

from this so-called reimbursement was the Rogich Trust, which was absolved of its debt to Eldorado

Hills, and Go Global, which received $1,420,000.00 in reimbursement. In other words, Nanyah’s

payment was not used to pay a debt owed by Eldorado Hills to Go Global—it was used to pay a

debt owed by the Rogich Trust to Go Global.

Eldorado Hills ended up in the same position it would have been had the Rogich Trust

complied with its capital contribution obligation to begin with. On the other hand, if Eldorado Hills

is liable for Nanyah’s payment, it will be forced to pay the Rogich Trust’s capital contribution

shortfall long after the Rogich Trust left the company. Any such result is inequitable and completely

contrary to NRS 86.391. As stated in the Motion, the “principles of unjust enrichment will not

support the imposition of liability that leaves an innocent recipient worse off than if the transaction

with the claimant had never taken place.” Certified Fire Prot., Inc. v. Precision Constr. Inc., 128

Nev. at 382, 283, P.3d at 257 (citing Restatement (Third) of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment § 1,

cmt. d (2011)). Accordingly, summary judgment should be entered, dismissing Nanyah’s unjust

enrichment claim against Eldorado Hills.15

IV. ARGUMENT RELATING TO COUNTERMOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

A. Nanyah’s Countermotion for Summary Judgment is Untimely.

This Court recently set the dispositive motion deadline for June 1, 2018.16 Based on that

deadline, Eldorado Hills filed this Motion on June 1, 2018. Nineteen days after the dispositive

motion deadline, Nanyah filed the Countermotion.17 The right to file a countermotion does not

455 B.R. 485, 500-01 (Bankr. E.D. Va. 2011) (treating payments to the company as capital contributions as opposed to
loans because there were “no formal debt instruments” and the “books and records” did not “reflect any indebtedness
owed to its interest holders.”).

15 To the extent it did retain a benefit, it is limited to $80,000.00, the difference between Nanyah’s payment
($1,500,000.00) and the payment to Go Global ($1,420,000.00).

16 Discovery Commissioner’s Report and Recommendation, filed May 1, 2018 (affirmed and adopted by this
Court on April 27, 2018).

17 The Countermotion is practically identical to the Countermotion for Summary Judgment filed by Nanyah on
March 19, 2018, and denied by this Court on May 22, 2018. (Order Denying Countermot. for Summary Judgment and
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permit a party to disregard the dispositive motion deadline. See, e.g., Sfr Invs. Pool 1 v. Nationstar,

Case. No. A-13-688566-C, 2016 Nev. Dist. LEXIS 1104, at *6-7 (Dist. Ct. Feb. 9, 2016) (striking a

countermotion for summary judgment as untimely because it did not comply with the dispositive

motion deadline); accord Candow v. Dust, No. 2:11-CV-00343-LRH-GWF, 2014 WL 4636372, at

*3 (D. Nev. Sep. 16, 2014). Nanyah filed its Countermotion in violation of this Court’s scheduling

order and without the requisite good cause. See N.R.C.P. 16(b). The Countermotion should be

denied.

B. Nanyah’s Countermotion is Procedurally Improper.

On September 11, 2014, in conjunction with Eldorado Hills’ first Motion for Summary

Judgment against Nanyah, this Court informed Nanyah that it “rarely” considers countermotions.

Specifically, the Court stated as follows:

And let me indicate to both of you that I rarely consider countermotions
because I’m concerned about the due process rights of the parties. When
a motion is filed and then a countermotion is filed it doesn’t allow for a
full briefing so I rarely consider them.18

When Nanyah disregarded this admonition and began to argue its countermotion, the Court repeated

itself:

You know I’m really – I don’t want to cut you off from making your
record but I’m really not inclined to deal with a dispositive request for
relief when there’s not due process to both sides. If you believe you
have a cause of action then file your motion and give them a chance to
fully brief it; give me the chance to fully digest the facts and determine
the law.19

Apparently Nanyah decided to ignore the Court yet again by tacking a substantial Countermotion to

its Opposition. For that reason alone, the Countermotion should be denied.

Denying NRCP 56(f) Relief, filed May 22, 2018.) Nanyah has not explained why it filed an untimely Countermotion
which was already denied by this Court.

18 Tr. of Proceedings, Sep. 11, 2014, 6:7-10, attached as Exhibit 1.

19 Id., 14:7-11.
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C. Nanyah Did Not Plead a Contractual Claim Against Eldorado Hills—It Only Pled an
Unjust Enrichment Claim.

Nanyah’s unjust enrichment claim against Eldorado Hills has been pending since July 31,

2013, almost five years ago.20 Nanyah amended its July 31, 2013 Complaint, yet did not add a

contractual claim against Eldorado Hills.21 In 2016, Nanyah filed a new lawsuit against the other

Defendants, yet did not add a contractual claim against Eldorado Hills.22

Now, approximately four months before trial, well past the deadline to amend pleadings,

and past the close of discovery, Nanyah seeks summary judgment regarding a purported implied-in-

fact contract claim against Eldorado Hills that is nowhere to be found within its pleadings. Implied-

in-fact contract and unjust enrichment are markedly different legal theories. See Certified Fire Prot.

Inc., 128 Nev. at 379-82, 283 P.3d at 256-57. An implied-in-fact contract is a “true contract,” while

an unjust enrichment claim can only exist in the absence of a contract. Id. As it pertains to Eldorado

Hills, Nanyah has only pled the latter—not the former. Suffice it to say that summary judgment

cannot be entered on a contractual claim that does not exist. Therefore, the Countermotion should be

denied.

D. Nanyah Has Not Shown An Implied-In-Fact Contract With Eldorado Hills.

Even assuming this Court permits Nanyah to proceed on a claim it never pled during the

pendency of this litigation, the fact remains that Nanyah failed to prove an implied-in-fact contract

with Eldorado Hills. “To find a contract implied-in-fact, the fact-finder must conclude that the

parties intended to contract and promises were exchanged, the general obligations for which must

be sufficiently clear.” Certified Fire Prot., 128 Nev. at 380, 283 P.3d at 256 (emphasis added). The

obligations which supposedly comprise this implied-in-fact contract between Eldorado Hills and

Nanyah are a mystery. In particular, what “membership interest” did Nanyah supposedly contract to

receive for its $1,500,000.00 investment? What percentage of Eldorado Hills was Nanyah

contractually entitled to own? Would that membership interest reduce Go Global’s or the Rogich

20 Compl., Case No. A-13-686303-C, filed July 31, 2013.

21 First. Am. Compl., Case No. A-13-686303-C, filed Oct. 21, 2013.

22 Compl., Case. No. A-16-746239-C, filed Nov. 4, 2016.
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Trust’s existing membership interest, and if so, by how much? Would Nanyah have any voting

rights? Would Nanyah have any managerial rights? Would Nanyah be bound by the Operating

Agreement? Would Nanyah have an obligation to comply with capital calls? Without proof that

these obligations were discussed and agreed upon, there is not nearly enough certainty or detail to

conceive an implied-in-fact contract for an investment in an LLC. See id. (“There are simply too

many gaps to fill in the asserted contract for quantum meruit to take hold.”).

Further, contrary to Nanyah’s interpretation of the Operating Agreement, Huerta did not have

unilateral authority to orally agree to transfer an Eldorado Hills membership interest. Under Section

11.5, “no Member shall be entitled to transfer, assign[,] convey, sell, encumber or in any way

alienate all or any part of such Member’s Membership Interest … except with prior Written consent

of the Board….”23 Eldorado Hills’ Board of Managers was comprised of Go Global (i.e., Huerta)

and Rogich.24 Nanyah failed to provide this Court with any written consent by Eldorado Hills’

Board (either by Go Global, Rogich, or both) which authorized the sale of any Eldorado Hills

membership interest to Nanyah or the transfer of any portion of Go Global or the Rogich Trust’s

Eldorado Hills membership interest to Nanyah.

Finally, much of Nanyah’s Countermotion is comprised of deposition testimony and a

declaration from Huerta in 2014 that Nanyah claims are binding on Eldorado Hills.25 As a former

Eldorado representative, Huerta had absolutely no authority to bind Eldorado with his statements in

2014. See, e.g., Rebel Comm., LLC v. Virgin Valley Water Dist., No. 2:10–cv–00513–LRH–GWF,

2011 WL 677308, at *8 (D. Nev. Feb. 15, 2011) (“[B]ecause the former employee no longer is an

agent of the corporation, she cannot make revelations that bind the corporation as evidentiary

admissions….”) (citation omitted) (emphasis added); Brown v. St. Joseph Cty., 148 F.R.D. 246, 252

(N.D. Ind. 1993) (“‘[F]ormer employees cannot bind the organization, and their statements cannot

be introduced as admissions of the corporation.’”) (citation omitted) (emphasis added).

23 Operating Agreement, § 11.5, attached as Exhibit 2 to Opp’n to Eliades Defs.’ MSJ, filed June 19, 2018
(emphasis added).

24 Id., § 2.6; § 5.3.

25 Opp’n to Eldorado MSJ, 19:21-20:15.
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Bottom line: even with Huerta’s biased, non-binding 2014 testimony, Nanyah has submitted

insufficient evidence to create an implied-in-fact contract between Eldorado Hills and Nanyah.

Therefore, the Countermotion should be denied.26

E. Nanyah Has Not Shown That It Invested $1,500,000.00 in Eldorado Hills.

Nanyah seeks summary judgment “that it invested $1.5 million into Eldorado.” Yet, the

documentary evidence indicates otherwise. As explained in detail in the Motion, much of the

correspondence between Huerta and Harlap discussed an investment in Canamex Nevada, Inc.

(“Canamex”)—not in Eldorado Hills.27 Harlap, through Nanyah, ultimately decided to invest

$1,500,000.00 into Canamex—not Eldorado Hills.28 Huerta/Nanyah wired the money to

Canamex—not Eldorado Hills.29 Although Huerta temporarily funneled the money through

Eldorado Hills before paying it to Go Global, every piece of documentary evidence (i.e., investor

updates from Go Global, tax documents, etc.) indicate that Nanyah received an interest in

Canamex—not Eldorado Hills—in exchange for Harlap’s $1,500,000.00 payment.30

All of this evidence shows that Nanyah invested in Canamex and not in Eldorado Hills. And,

as shown above, Huerta’s testimony does not bind Eldorado Hills. Accordingly, Nanyah is not

entitled to summary judgment on its allegation that it invested $1,500,000.00 into Eldorado Hills.

Further, even if Nanyah is found to have invested $1,500,000.00 in Eldorado Hills, that does not

mean that Eldorado Hills is liable for unjust enrichment or any other claim. As explained above, the

Rogich Trust explicitly agreed that it was solely responsible for Nanyah’s potential claim. The

Countermotion should be denied.

F. Nanyah is Not Entitled to Summary Judgment on its Unjust Enrichment Claim.

As explained in detail above, Eldorado Hills did not retain a benefit from Nanyah’s

26 To the extent that Nanyah tries to argue that its alleged implied-in-fact contract is an obligation by Eldorado to
repay $1,500,000.00, it would also be barred by the statute of frauds. NRS 111.220(4) (loans for more than $100,000
must be in writing).

27 Exs. 2-A and 2- B to Mot.

28 Id.

29 Exs. 2-B, 2-D, and 2-E to Mot.

30 Exs. 2-I, 2-J, 2-K, 2-L, 2-M, and 2-N to Mot.
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$1,500,000.00 payment. Nanyah’s argument completely misconstrues the nature of limited liability

companies. As the entity, Eldorado Hills was entitled to capital contributions from its members to

the extent expenses needed to be paid. NRS 86.391. Accordingly, when Eldorado Hills needed to

repay Antonio Nevada, the Rogich Trust and Go Global were required to fund those expenses. Go

Global provided an additional capital contribution because the Rogich Trust could not pay its share.

But Eldorado was not obligated to repay that amount to Go Global. On the contrary, the Rogich

Trust was obligated to repay that amount to Go Global. Therefore, once Nanyah provided its

$1,500,000.00 payment, Huerta apparently took that money and repaid Go Global. Eldorado Hills

did not benefit from that payment—the Rogich Trust and Go Global did. There is no basis to

impose equitable liability against Eldorado Hills. Doing so would leave an innocent temporary

recipient of those funds worse off than if Nanyah’s payment had never been made. Accordingly, the

Countermotion should be denied in its entirety.
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V. CONCLUSION

The Rogich Trust and Eldorado Hills are not one and the same. Merely because the Rogich

Trust—one of Eldorado Hills’ members—agreed to be individually responsible for Nanyah’s

potential claim does not mean that Eldorado Hills is also liable for the same debt. On the contrary,

the relevant agreements explicitly prove that Eldorado Hills was not intended to be liable for

Nanyah’s potential claim. The reason is simple—Eldorado Hills did not benefit from Nanyah’s

payment nor did it retain Nanyah’s payment. The Rogich Trust and Go Global did. Accordingly,

summary judgment should be entered dismissing Nanyah’s unjust enrichment claim, and Nanyah’s

untimely Countermotion should be denied.

DATED this 19th day of July, 2018.

BAILEYKENNEDY

By: /s/ Joseph A. Liebman
DENNIS L. KENNEDY

JOSEPH A. LIEBMAN

Attorneys for Defendants
PETE ELIADES, THE ELIADES
SURVIVOR TRUST OF 10/30/08, TELD,
LLC and ELDORADO HILLS, LLC



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Page 15 of 15
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I certify that I am an employee of BAILEYKENNEDY and that on the 19th day of July,

2018, service of the foregoing DEFENDANT ELDORADO HILLS, LLC’S REPLY IN

SUPPORT OF ITS MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND OPPOSITION TO

COUNTERMOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT was made by mandatory electronic service

through the Eighth Judicial District Court’s electronic filing system and/or by depositing a true and

correct copy in the U.S. Mail, first class postage prepaid, and addressed to the following at their last

known address:

MARK G. SIMONS, ESQ.
SIMONS LAW, PC
6490 So. McCarran Blvd., #20
Reno, NV 89509

Email: mark@mgsimonslaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff
NANYAH VEGAS, LLC

SAMUEL S. LIONEL, ESQ.
FENNEMORE CRAIG, P.C.
300 S. Fourth Street, Suite 1400
Las Vegas, NV 89101

Email: slionel@fclaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant
SIG ROGICH aka SIGMUND
ROGICH, Individually and as
Trustee of THE ROGICH FAMILY
IRREVOCABLE TRUST, and
IMITATIONS, LLC

CHARLES E. (“CJ”) BARNABI JR.
COHEN JOHNSON PARKER
EDWARDS
375 E. Warm Springs Road, Suite 104
Las Vegas, NV 89119

Email: cj@cohenjohnson.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
CARLOS A. HUERTA,
individually and as Trustee of THE
ALEXANDER CHRISTOPHER
TRUST, and GO GLOBAL, INC.

/s/ Sharon L. Murnane
Employee of BAILEYKENNEDY
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